# DATA ACQUISITION & EXPERIMENTAL ANALYSIS OF POWER HARVESTING FROM SUSPENSION SYSTEM



Author AHMAD SABUR HASSAN Registration Number 330538

Supervisor DR. NAJAM-UL-QADIR

DEPARTMENT OF MECHANICAL ENGINEERING SCHOOL OF MECHANICAL & MANUFACTURING ENGINEERING NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCES AND TECHNOLOGY ISLAMABAD SEPTEMBER 2022

# Data Acquisition & Experimental Analysis of Power Harvesting from Suspension System

# Author AHMAD SABUR HASSAN Registration Number 330538

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of MS Mechanical Engineering

## Thesis Supervisor: DR, NAJAM-UL-QADIR

Thesis Supervisor's Signature: \_\_\_\_\_

# DEPARTMENT OF MECHANICAL ENGINEERING SCHOOL OF MECHANICAL & MANUFACTURING ENGINEERING NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCES AND TECHNOLOGY, ISLAMABAD SEPTEMBER 2022

## DECLARATION

I certify that this research work titled "*Data Acquisition & Experimental Analysis of Power Harvesting from Suspension System*" is my own work. The work has not been presented elsewhere for assessment. The material that has been used from other sources it has been properly acknowledged / referred.

> Signature of Student AHMAD SABUR HASSAN 2020-NUST-MsME-Mech-330538

## PLAGIARISM CERTIFICATE (TURNITIN REPORT)

This thesis has been checked for Plagiarism. Turnitin report endorsed by Supervisor is attached.

Signature of Student AHMAD SABUR HASSAN Registration Number

330538

Signature of Supervisor

## **COPYRIGHT STATEMENT**

- Copyright in text of this thesis rests with the student author. Copies (by any process) either in full, or of extracts, may be made only in accordance with instructions given by the author and lodged in the Library of NUST School of Mechanical & Manufacturing Engineering (SMME). Details may be obtained by the Librarian. This page must form part of any such copies made. Further copies (by any process) may not be made without the permission (in writing) of the author.
- The ownership of any intellectual property rights which may be described in this thesis is vested in NUST School of Mechanical & Manufacturing Engineering, subject to any prior agreement to the contrary, and may not be made available for use by third parties without the written permission of the SMME, which will prescribe the terms and conditions of any such agreement.
- Further information on the conditions under which disclosures and exploitation may take place is available from the Library of NUST School of Mechanical & Manufacturing Engineering, Islamabad.

## ACKNOWLEDEMENTS

I am thankful to my Creator Allah Subhana-Watala to have guided me throughout this work at every step and for every new thought which You setup in my mind to improve it. Indeed, I could have done nothing without Your priceless help and guidance. Whosoever helped me throughout the course of my thesis, whether my parents or any other individual was Your will, so indeed none be worthy of praise but You.

I am profusely thankful to my beloved parents who raised me when I was not capable of walking and continued to support me throughout in every department of my life.

I would also like to pay special thanks to Dr. Najam-ul-Qadir for his tremendous support and cooperation. Each time I got stuck in something; he came up with the solution. Without his help I wouldn't have been able to complete my thesis. I appreciate his patience and guidance throughout the whole thesis.

I would also like to thank Dr. Sami, Dr. Amir and Dr. Riaz Ahmad Mufti for being on my thesis guidance and evaluation committee and express my special thanks to Dr. Jawad Aslam for his help. I am also thankful to Lab Assistant Afzal and Lab Engineer Ali Hassan for their support and cooperation.

Finally, I would like to express my gratitude to all the individuals who have rendered valuable assistance to my study.

## ABSTRACT

Energy crisis and environmental problems such as oil shortage and atmospheric pollution have brought challenges for new development of an energy saving, efficient and environment friendly power transmission system in vehicles. This research is focused on how to use the vibrational energy of the suspension system to generate power that would otherwise go as waste. It is demonstrated that the potential energy of driving vibration is sufficient to be utilized as a sustainable energy. The vibrations experienced by the shock absorber of the vehicle when passed through some irregularities on the road are converted into useful energy by using a regenerative linear or rotary mechanism. As shock absorber effect formed, spring is compressed, and linear movement of rack is converted in rotary motion due to pinion moves as the rack is meshed with pinion. And the pinion is mounted on the shaft of the generator which then produce the power. It is then used to calculate the practical power generated from the regenerative shock absorber by taking the real vibrations amplitude data from the road. The vibrations amplitude data is acquired from the road by driving motorcycle on different road conditions with the setup installed in it to calculate and store the vibrations amplitude data. Later, the same data is applied to the testing rig by using pneumatic and Arduino to find out the voltage generated. The power that is practically generated by testing the mechanism on the rig is around 9.5 watts. The harvestable power from the suspension depends on the vehicle speed, road roughness and stiffness of the tire. This regenerated energy is used to charge the battery.

## **Table of Contents**

1. INT	RODUCTION	1
1.1. P	roblem Statement:	1
1.2.	Research Idea & Concept:	2
1.3.	Aims & Objectives:	3
2. LIT	ERATURE REVIEW	4
2.1.	Ball-Screw Electromagnetic Energy Harvester:	8
2.2.	Rack & Pinion Electromagnetic Energy Harvester:	9
2.3.	Hydraulic Electromagnetic Regenerative Damper:	9
2.4.	COMPARISON OF DIFFERENT METHODS:	. 10
3. DE	SIGN METHODOLOGY	. 12
3.1.	Principle of Mechanism:	. 12
3.2.	Rack & Pinion:	. 13
3.3.	Generator:	. 14
3.4.	Mechanical Motion Rectifier:	. 15
3.5.	Working Flowchart:	. 17
4. DA	TA ACQUISITION	. 19
4.1.	Data Acquisition Setup:	. 20
4.2.	Accelerometer Sensor (ADXL345):	. 21
4.3.	Capacitor Sensor (E2K-C):	. 22
4.4.	IR Distance Sensor GP2Y0A02YK0F:	. 23
4.5.	VL53L0X Sensor:	. 24
4.6.	Experimental Setup for Data Acquisition:	. 25
4.6.1.	Data of Vibration Amplitude Taken from Highway:	. 26
4.6.2.	Data of Vibration Amplitude Taken from Street Road:	. 27
4.6.3.	Data of Vibration Amplitude Taken from Rough Road:	. 28
5. Des	ign of Mechanism	. 29
6. Dat	a Application and Testing	. 31
6.1.	Data Application:	. 32
6.1.1.	Arduino Mega:	. 32
6.1.2.	SD Card Module:	. 33

6.1.3. MOSFET Module:	
6.1.4. Power Supply & Compressor:	
6.2. Experimental Setup:	
6.3. Testing of Power Harvesting Mechanism for Power Output:	
6.4. Voltage Generated from Vibrations on Different Road Conditions:	
6.5. Power Calculation:	40
7. Results & Discussions	41
7.1. Future Recommendations:	43
8. APPENDIX A	45
9. APPENDIX B	47
10. REFERENCES	

## **Table of Figures**

Figure 1. Power Harvesting Capacity of Different Vehicles	5
Figure 2. Fuel Efficiency improvement using Power Harvesting Mechanism	6
Figure 3. Energy Losses in Vehicle	7
Figure 4. Ball Screw Electromagnetic Energy Harvester	8
Figure 5. Rack & Pinion Electromagnetic Energy Harvester	9
Figure 6. Hydraulic Electromagnetic Regenerative Damper	10
Figure 7. Comparison of Rotary & Linear Electromagnetic Energy Harvesting Dampers	11
Figure 8. Rack & Pinion Mechanism	13
Figure 9. Generator & it's Working Mechanism	15
Figure 10. Mechanical Motion Rectifier	16
Figure 11. Flowchart of Mechanism Working	17
Figure 12. Independent suspension system	20
Figure 13. Accelerometer Sensor	21
Figure 14. Arduino Connection with Accelerometer	22
Figure 15. Capacitor Sensor	22
Figure 16. IR Distance Sensor	23
Figure 17. Connection of Arduino with IR distance Sensor	24
Figure 18. VL53L0X Sensor and it's connection with Arduino	25
Figure 19. Graph of Highway data taken from motorcycle shock w.r.t time	26
Figure 20. Graph of Vibrations Amplitude data taken from motorcycle on street road	27
Figure 21. Graph of vibrations amplitude taken from motorcycle on rough road conditions	28
Figure 22. Manufactured Rack and Pinion	30
Figure 23. Testing Rig	31
Figure 24. Arduino Mega	32
Figure 25. SD card Module & it's connection with Arduino	33
Figure 26. MOSFET Module	34
Figure 27. Power Supply of 30V	35
Figure 28. Air Compressor	35
Figure 29. Wiring Diagram of Experimental Setup with Arduino	36
Figure 30. Voltage Divider Circuit	37

Figure 31. Voltage vs Time Graph from Highway Data	39
Figure 32. Voltage vs Time Graph from street road Data	39
Figure 33. Voltage vs Time Graph from Rough Road Data	40

## List of Tables

<b>Table 1.</b> Comparison of Vibration Amplitude Data on different road conditions	. 28
Table 2. Comparison of voltage generated by vibrations amplitude of different road conditions	s38
<b>Table 3.</b> Power Harvested by vibrations on different road conditions	. 40

## **1. INTRODUCTION**

Today world is facing fuel shortages and fuel prices are skyrocketing. One reason behind all this is the excess amount of fuel usage in automotive and power generation sector. Automotive systems are not very fuel efficient and the research on different platforms is underway to enhance power output from these systems. Energy that is wasted in automotive needs to be utilized in order to overcome the low efficiency problems. Suspension system of vehicle is one major energy sink in automobiles. The vibrations of shock absorber are usually dissipated in the form of heat. In this research I will try to figure out a way in which this dissipated energy could be utilized in some useful form. This research is focused on how to use the vibrational energy of the suspension system to generate power that would otherwise go as waste. For that purpose, it is required to design a mechanism that coverts the waste energy from the suspension into electricity. The two main functions of the shock absorber are to keep the tires intact with the road all time and to provide smooth ride to the passengers. It does so by damping the vibrations and the energy associated with it dissipates in the form of heat. This vibration energy from the shock absorber of the vehicle which is otherwise going as a waste could be regenerated and would help in reducing the fuel consumption and exhaust emissions. In this project it is aimed to design and construct a simple mechanism consisting of rack and pinion which convert oscillatory motion of the suspension into unidirectional rotary motion, by connecting which to the generator, electricity can be produced. The energy can be used for charging the battery.

## **1.1. Problem Statement:**

In all vehicles, cars, truck, bus, train car and military vehicles a high amount of energy is being wasted during the driving condition on the road due to the vibration of the suspension system. This energy is dissipated in the form of heat to the surroundings. Since the suspension is an important source of energy dissipation, it is feasible to harvest its vibration energy and convert into regenerative energy to improve the vehicle fuel efficiency. Instead of dissipating the vibration energy into waste heat, the damper in regenerative suspension will transform the kinetic energy into electricity. The stored energy can be used to power vehicle electronics to increase vehicle fuel efficiency.

The IC engines used in vehicles now a days have an efficiency of 30 to 40%. In this efficiency not only car runs and overcome tractive effect but also run the electrical components of a car like air conditioning, lights, ECU of automobiles etc. All of these electrical components are run by the battery which was charged by the alternator continuously. The alternator is coupled directly to the crankshaft of the engine and hence consume brake power. The amount of energy consumed by the alternator is approximately 4% of total energy generated. So, this creates a situation for us where need to replace the alternator to some system which will not add up to the engine load and also recover the waste energy which is dissipated to the surrounding.

#### 1.2. Research Idea & Concept:

In automobiles, where many other sorts of energies are unused or lost, suspension system also dissipates energy in the form of heat as well. IC engine has to move the vehicle and along with that many car accessories are also powered by the alternator which itself use the brake power hence reduces the efficiency and increase the fuel consumption. So, the research idea is to a design a mechanism, like the regenerative braking system, that recovers the energy dissipated in the suspension system. The main purpose is to reduce the load on engine and increase the efficiency while using alternative energy available on other ends that were being lost otherwise.

Regenerative braking system is already there and is in use so now there is a need to develop a system that recovers the energy dissipated in the suspension system as well. Shock absorbers dampen the vibrations coming from the road by converting it into heat. The vibrational energy of the shock can be converted into electrical energy using some mechanical setup. The mechanism should convert the oscillatory motion of the shock absorber into the rotation motion. The alternator than used this rotation motion to generate power from those vibrations and it will than provide the power to charge the battery or give power to different accessories directly. When the automobile is running on the normal road, even than the shock absorber is working because of the irregularities on the road or sudden braking. This small amplitude of vibrations combined with the large mass of the vehicle results in the generation of considerable power. So, the concept is to design a prototype of the mechanism to harvest power from the suspension system and then deploy it on the testing rig to show how energy harvesting is possible and how much energy can we harvest from the single shock of the automobile.

## 1.3. Aims & Objectives:

- To design the mechanism to harvest energy from suspension system of vehicle.
- Real time data acquisition of oscillatory motion from suspension system.
- To construct the prototype of this mechanism to demonstrate the functionality of mechanism.
- Apply the acquired data to find the power harvested.

## 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

Regenerative suspension system has gained much attention over time which used energy harvesting shock absorber because of its ability to provide dynamic performance and also to convert waste vibration energy into useful power. According to Zuo and Zhang's research, a normal passenger car has a potential energy of between 100 and 400W when it is moving at a speed of roughly 97 km/h on good or ordinary roads. Thus, at an energy conversion efficiency of 75%, 300W of electrical power can be produced, which equates to a 3% gain in fuel efficiency, per BMW's data on the electricity requirement for average passenger automobiles. Levant Power engineers also highlighted the positive impact on fuel savings if such a power loss is partially recovered, where an average power of 1 kW could be captured from a 3-axle truck on a highway, which may be sufficient to replace the high-power alternator from heavy-duty trucks or military vehicles. The power that is regenerated depends on the intensity of vibrations. The more intense the vibrations are, the more power could be regenerated, and more fuel could be saved which is the case in heavy vehicles and off-road vehicles.

To recover the energy dissipated in suspension system, different strategies for regenerative suspension system has been proposed and used. The energy harvested from the suspension system could be used practically to charge the batteries of a vehicle and to supply electrical power as a replacement to the alternator of the vehicle. The regenerative based shock absorbers are divided into different groups depending on how they transform the linear vibrations into electricity. Mainly these regenerative mechanisms are divided into two classes:

#### • Linear Electromagnetic Harvesters:

The linear electromagnetic harvester converts the energy associated with the vertical oscillatory motion of the shock absorber directly into electrical energy by using a simple structure with electromagnetic induction.

#### Rotary Electromagnetic Harvesters:

The rotary electromagnetic harvester converts the vertical oscillatory motion first into rotary motion by using a vertical to rotary motion mechanism. This rotary motion is than transmitted to the shaft of the alternator which than produces electricity. The rotary based electromagnetic harvesters use two types of methods to convert linear motion to rotary motion which are mechanical based transmission and hydraulic based transmission. The mechanical transmission-based harvester has been developed rapidly because of its simple construction, greater efficiency, and considerable average power. The energy dissipated in directly proportional to how intense the vibrations are and so how heavy the vehicle is. The energy dissipates is maximum in heavy vehicle like trucks and military vehicles. The fuel efficiency improvement is maximum in hybrid electric vehicles and off-road vehicles.



Figure 1. Power Harvesting Capacity of Different Vehicles



Figure 2. Fuel Efficiency improvement using Power Harvesting Mechanism

Based on a review of the literature, a fairly broad range, from 46 to 7500W, represents the potential energy of the harvestable power for various vehicle types and operational scenarios. The findings for a real drive cycle on a real field may differ from the laboratory and theoretical collected energy outputs in some way. This can be because actual operational conditions for a vehicle while driving normally differ from the testing assumptions and settings.

Reducing the vehicle energy losses is necessary for improving fuel economy, reducing emissions, and supplying other systems with the saved energy like active suspension. The vehicle consumes about 20–30% of the fuel energy in the car moving on roads. Considering the vehicle energy balance, suspension energy dissipation regrettably is not clearly quantified out of the fuel consumption, but it is only considered in the rolling resistance ranging from 3 to 12% of the fuel energy consumption. Nevertheless, in a world where energy becomes rare and expensive, even the small quantities of such otherwise dissipated energy are worth of being harvested such as the

energy lost in car suspension. According to the predicted power results, the energy dissipation from the vehicle damper was predicted for various road profiles and vehicle velocities. Under city driving velocities, each damper in the vehicle dissipated energy with an average rate of 20W while a 35W under highway velocities was dissipated per absorber. Thus, as for the whole vehicle, the average dissipated power was predicted to be 80W and 140W at city and highway velocities, respectively, because of the high-speed effect corresponding to the highway roads.



Figure 3. Energy Losses in Vehicle

Linear energy harvesters have a set of voice coils moving in an array of magnetic fields, which can produce electricity and a back electromotive force (EMF). Their energy-harvesting efficiency is generally high, but damping is too small. For instance, the linear energy-harvesting shock absorber proposed in [7] can achieve 70% - 78% mechanical efficiency, but it can only provide a damping of 940 Ns/m under a short circuit condition, even not sufficient for a compact-sized passenger car. To overcome low-damping drawbacks, bidirectional rotary energy harvesters have been proposed, which utilize some mechanisms, such as ball screws [8-10], rack and pinions [11]

or other motion conversion mechanisms [12], to transfer reciprocating linear vibration into bidirectional rotation of rotary generators to produce electricity. By converting low-speed linear motion into high-speed rotation, the damping of bidirectional rotary energy harvesters is significantly increased. However, the irregular oscillation of the motion transmission mechanism in bidirectional rotary energy harvesters causes numerous problems such as low efficiency and bad vibration performance. For example, the bidirectional rotary energy-harvesting shock absorber investigated in [11] has a suitable damping range of 1800Ns/m – 8000Ns/m, but it also has large backlash which leads to a relatively low mechanical efficiency of 33% - 56%.

The rotary electromagnetic harvester used different mechanism for linear to rotary transmission including rack and pinion mechanism, ball screw mechanism and hydraulic transmission based electromagnetic rotary energy harvesting damper. Among them rack and pinion based electromagnetic rotary energy harvester damper gives the highest energy conversion efficiency.

## 2.1. Ball-Screw Electromagnetic Energy Harvester:

Three components make up the electromagnetic damper model employed in this study: a DC motor, a ball-screw, and a nut. The ball-screw and nut design convert the linear motions of the damping system brought on by environmental vibrations into rotating motion. The motor's rotational motion causes a voltage, which creates a current, which is then stored as electrical energy in an electric double layer capacitor. The ball screw and nut are used in back-driven mode, which means that irregular suspension vibrations cause the nut to reciprocate at low speed, driving the screw to rotate in both directions at fast speed. In the ball-screw case, the nut can travel along the linear guide. Simulations carried out showed that the average regenerated and absorbed energy during a period of 20 seconds were 31.63 W and 55.39 W, respectively. This gave an efficiency of 36 %.



Figure 4. Ball Screw Electromagnetic Energy Harvester

### 2.2. Rack & Pinion Electromagnetic Energy Harvester:

In rack and pinion type arrangement to convert linear to rotary transmissions, rack is connected parallel to the shock. The linear vibrational motion of shock is also experienced by the rack, and it also move linearly to and fro. The pinion attached with the rack will rotate as the rack move linearly. This will give rotation motion to the shaft of the generator. Simulation results show that the rack-pinion energy harvester had a peak power of 67.5 W and an average power of 19.2 W with a total energy conversion efficiency of up to 56 %. This shows that the rack and pinion type arrangement have the maximum energy conversion efficiency as compared to other mechanisms.



Figure 5. Rack & Pinion Electromagnetic Energy Harvester

#### 2.3. Hydraulic Electromagnetic Regenerative Damper:

Both the ball-screw and rack-pinion mechanism, when used in energy regenerative shock absorbers, causes the rotational direction of the generator to constantly change depending on if the shock absorber is compressing or expanding. This constant change of rotational direction has a negative effect on the generator and can be the cause for failure in the long term. The generator in this system is put in motion by a hydraulic fluid and has a constant rotational direction regardless of if it is exposed to a compression or expansion. This system utilizes the fluid pressure for the conversion of kinetic energy into electric. The experiment showed that the system only recovered 16.5 % of the vibrational energy it was exposed to. Even though this system's fundamental purpose was to reduce the energy loss in the generator from the constant change of rotational energy, the report showed that 21.1 % of the energy was lost in the hydraulic motor and the generator.



Figure 6. Hydraulic Electromagnetic Regenerative Damper

## 2.4. COMPARISON OF DIFFERENT METHODS:

Compared to the rack-pinion mechanism, the ball-screw mechanism can significantly reduce backlash before the MMR, resulting in higher energy-harvesting efficiency. Also, by using the ball-screw mechanism, an enclosed lubricated MMR gear transmission system can be designed, which increases the transmission durability and efficiency. The mechanical friction force of the ball screw mechanism is larger than that of the rack-pinion design due to additional friction induced by the ball screw and the high-speed rotational MMR gearbox. The rack and pinion have the highest energy conversion efficiency and give better result under high amplitude vibrations as compared to the ball screw mechanism. The remaining system that should be compared with rack and pinion is

hydraulic based regeneration system. The advantage of using hydraulic based system is that with the change in linear motion, the rotation direction of the generator doesn't change. As the rack and pinion mechanism used solid metal parts for energy transformation so it is more prone to damage under sudden bumps which exerted large external forces as compared to hydraulics where fluid is used for the energy transformation fluid itself is damping the forces. Although the hydraulic system is more robust than the ball-screw it is shown to be less energy efficient due to an extensive loss of energy largely caused by friction between the fluid and the surrounding container. Compared to the 16.5 percent power regeneration efficiency of the hydraulic system the rack and pinion energy harvester with its 56 % is clearly dominant.

No.	Energy-Harvesting Technology	Linear-Rotary Motion Transmission	Harvestable Power Range (W)	Conversion Efficiency (%)
1.	Rotary electromagnetic energy-harvesting dampers (indirect-drive based electromagnetic harvesters)	Rack-Pinion Based Mechanism	20-250	30-70%
		Ball-Screw Based Mechanism	25-290	20-65%
		Hydraulic Based Mechanism	30–350	10-40%
2.	Linear electromagnetic energy-harvesting dampers (direct-drive based electromagnetic harvesters)	-	25-300	20-50%

Figure 7. Comparison of Rotary & Linear Electromagnetic Energy Harvesting Dampers

## **3. DESIGN METHODOLOGY**

When a vehicle moves on a road it is always subjected to excitation because of the irregularities on the road, acceleration forces, braking forces and inertia forces on a curved track which causes discomfort to the driver and passengers of a car. Suspension systems are primarily utilized to absorb any type of road shocks caused by poor roads, holes, and bumps, hence providing vehicle stability. They provide consistent contact, comfort, and control, maximizing friction between the tires and the road surface in any sort of motion. The tires, tire air, springs, shock absorbers, and auxiliaries of a basic suspension system work together to absorb the energy of vertically accelerated wheels, letting the frame and body of a vehicle to remain undisturbed while gripping the road and isolating vibrations. A shock absorber is a mechanical or hydraulic device which is designed in a manner which smoothens out or damps out any sudden shock or impulse by converting the Kinetic Energy in the form of Heat Energy and then dissipating it. This energy is usually wasted in the form of heat. Springs alone cannot be used in suspension as they oscillate harmonically for a long time with a very small change in amplitude. Shock absorbers use viscous fluid which dampens the vibrations amplitude and ultimately become zero over a very small interval of time.

When someone drives a car, it experiences vibrations because of the road conditions which causes discomfort and to reduce those vibrations we use shock absorbers which result in the waste of energy. If we somehow reuse that waste energy it would be enough to use that potential energy as a sustainable source of energy. Energy harvester is the device to recycle mechanical vibration, both reducing its secondary pollution to the environment and reusing the wasted energy.

#### **3.1.** Principle of Mechanism:

Major concept of Regenerative Electromagnetic Shock Absorbers lies within the conversion of the kinetic energy obtained from the linear motion of the casings of the Magnetic Shock Absorber, to useful energy. The conversion of this linear motion to a rotational motion, and then harnessing this rotational energy with the help of an electrical generator is the main objective. To obtain rotational motion from linear motion, a system of gears known as the rack and pinion is used. This rotational motion is then given to the electrical generator and the electricity obtained is stored in a battery reservoir. This electricity can then be channelized and be used for multiple purposes.

Importantly, it is the Dampers linear motion that plays a major role in the process of electricity regeneration. The initiation of the process is done by the linear up and down motion of the shock absorber. This linear up and down motion is converted to rotational motion with the help of a rack and pinion gear system. This system can be used to convert mechanical energy into electromagnetic energy through a rack and pinion mechanism, and the electromagnetic energy is stored by energy storage elements, which can reduce vibration and recover excess energy.

## 3.2. Rack & Pinion:

It is a set of gears used to convert linear motion to rotational motion. The linear gear bar is known as the rack, and it engages teeth with a circular gear known as the Pinion. The linear gear called rack is attached parallel to the shock absorber. When a vehicle excites vertically because of the irregularity in road conditions, shock moves linearly to and fro to dampen the vibrations. As the rack is attached parallel to the shock absorber so it moves linearly too with the shock. The tooth of the rack meshes with the tooth of pinion, which is a circular gear, and rotates the pinion in the direction depending on the direction of motion of rack. So, when the rack moves longitudinally with the motion of shock, the pinion rotates.



Figure 8. Rack & Pinion Mechanism

When travelling on a highway or a fine quality road where the road irregularities are not much then the amplitude of vibrations is quite low and of the order of few millimeters. In such cases the linear vibration of the rack is very small. It requires a small gear ratio of rack and pinion so that even for a small linear movement of the rack, we get more rotations of the pinion which directly rotate the shaft of the generator.

The rack and pinion are attached externally to the case of the shock absorber because of the two reasons:

- The first reason is that because of the movement of the rack and pinion it is prone to breakdown in different components and that would damage the shock absorber if placed internally. Moreover because of the wear and tear of the moving system, we can replace it easily without disturbing the shock absorber.
- Secondly to avoid the wear and corrosion of rack and pinion assembly we can provide lubrication to it, so if placed externally it would not interfere with the shock absorber assembly.

## **3.3.** Generator:

A generator is a device that converts mechanical energy into electrical energy. It works on the principle of Faraday's Law of electromagnetic induction which says that whenever magnetic lines of force passing through a closed-circuit change, a current is induced in it. The electromotive force EMF or voltage is generated in a current-carrying conductor that cuts a uniform magnetic field. When a conductor rotates in a static magnetic field, it experienced a change in magnetic flux and EMF induced in it. The armature rotates between the poles of magnet and in perpendicular direction to the magnetic field, so the flux changes continuously. As a result, alternating current flows through galvanometer and the slip rings. The rack moves parallel to the shock absorber as it experiences the vibration. Then rack rotates the pinion with both the teeth of rack and pinion meshes each other. The pinion is connected with the shaft of the generator. So, any rotational movement of the pinion will force the shaft of the generator to move as well. As a result, the rotation of the shaft of the galvanometer will generate electricity.



Figure 9. Generator & it's Working Mechanism

## 3.4. Mechanical Motion Rectifier:

With the excitation of the vehicle from the road bumps, rack moves with shock absorber in both upwards and downward direction. This upward and downward movement of the rack will cause the pinion to rotate in both clockwise and anticlockwise direction. This bidirectional movement of the pinion will also rotate the shaft of the generator in both directions. To convert this bidirectional motion of the pinion into unidirectional motion of the shaft we used a mechanism called the mechanical motion rectifier. The key component of motion rectifier is one-way rollers that transmits rotation only in one direction and divide the motion in two different routes. When the central shaft rotates in clockwise direction, the one-way clutch #1 is engaged, and the bevel gear #1 embedded with clutch #1 rotates and drives the bevel gear #3 to work. Meanwhile, the other clutch #2 is open, and the bevel gear #2 fixed on it does not output any power to the small bevel gear #3. The working principle is vice versa when the central shaft rotates in reverse direction. By using the mechanical motion rectifier, loss of energy is reduced as the energy can be harvested in both the directions which otherwise would go waste in one of the directions and hence is useful to improve energy utilization. Moreover, a stable current can be produced by rotating the shaft in single direction. The disadvantage of using mechanical motion rectifier is that whatever little amount of energy is taking from the suspension system, part of it will be used in rotating the gears of the MMR which will result in decrease power output.

Generator is used to produce continuously alternating current in which the direction of current changes alternately. The purpose of the thesis is to store the energy in the battery to use it later for other purposes or to use that current directly to supply to electrical devices like air conditioner, radio, ECU etc. All of these devices used DC current or to store the current in battery we need to convert the alternating current (A.C) into direct current (D.C). For this purpose, we use rectifier that is an electrical device that converts alternating current (AC), which frequently changes its order, to direct current (DC), which streams in only single order.



Figure 10. Mechanical Motion Rectifier

## 3.5. Working Flowchart:



Figure 11. Flowchart of Mechanism Working

The overall system consists of a different component including suspension system, rack and pinion, generator, rectifier, and battery. The vibrations that were experienced by the vehicle will absorbed by the suspension system. Because of the irregularities on the road, motion of wheel will cause the suspension to compress and expand giving it a reciprocating motion. This reciprocating motion will transfer to the rack, which is connected parallel to the shock, which in turn will rotate the pinion having teeth meshed with the rack. The pinion will then rotate the shaft of the generator which will produce the AC current. The rectifier will convert this AC current to DC which will then store in the battery to use it as per requirement.

The function of a battery in a vehicle is just to supply the necessary current to the starter motor and the ignition system while cranking to start the engine. It also supplies additional current when the demand is higher than the alternator can supply and acts as an electrical reservoir. So, in vehicles battery act as an electrical storage device to start the ignition. All electrical components of a car when it's in a running condition are drive by the alternator. The alternator charges the battery and supply the current to all electrical devices as well. The alternator is run by the engine and take power by the crankshaft of the engine, so it reduces the fuel efficiency of the vehicle as fuel is used to run the engine and engine in turn is used to run the alternator. The consumption of alternator is found to be almost 4% of the total consumption. The rotation of the engine drives the alternator, forcing electrical energy (current) into a battery, where it's stored as chemical energy. The chemical energy of the battery is then changed back to electrical energy when it supplies current to the starter motor and accessories. The cycle repeats itself as the engine's mechanical energy again drives the alternator to recharge the battery so it can supply more current to the starter when needed. As in this research, the aim is to generate power from the suspension and store it in the battery for further usage. By providing the regenerative power to the battery we can increase the fuel efficiency of a vehicle as the work of the alternator would be reduced which was taking 4% of the consumption. We can also provide the regenerative power directly to some electrical appliance like air conditioner which consumes most of the energy from the alternator. As we are storing power in the battery for further usage so it will be more efficient if the mechanism is used in electric vehicles. The price of EVs is significantly higher than traditional vehicles. The primary reason for high prices is the high cost of vehicle batteries. Electric vehicles run entirely by the battery and as we supply the regenerative power to the battery so it would not require much charging and will be more efficient if used alone without regenerative mechanism.

## 4. DATA ACQUISITION

Most of the research previously done on this topic is on theoretical methods of how to device a mechanism that harvest power from the excitation or vibration of the shock absorber because of the road irregularities. So, researchers proposed different methods and mechanisms to harvest power either by linear electromagnetic harvesters or by using rotary electromagnetic harvesters. The work being done on it was mostly theoretical summary of how those mechanism work and draw power from the suspension system. Most of the calculations were done just by assuming different variables and equations that gives the power output ranging from tens to hundreds of watts. Some have also done simulations and analysis using different mechanisms and different simulations software to get to know the real amount of power extracted from the suspension system using that mechanism. But we can't get to know the real power being extracted until we apply the real-life data taken from the road in real time to the mechanism being used. Lab experiments were also done in the past on the mechanism being used to harvest power by applying it the vibrations of constant amplitude either by hand or by motor. As the amplitude of vibrations experienced by the vehicle is not constant and it damped down over time and the amplitude of vibration experienced by the vehicle every time it passed through some bump or irregular surface is not constant so that lab experiment also does not work out. It just gives the idea that some power could be extracted by using that mechanism from suspension but could not give the exact or near amount of power being generated.

In this research we will acquire data from the real time driving vehicle of how large the amplitude of the vibrations will be when a vehicle is running on a particular road at some constant speed for some interval of time. We will take three different sets of data for different road conditions like for highway, city road and rough road. We will also see the effect on the vibrations experienced by the vehicle by varying the speed of the vehicle. So, we have two variables here, speed and road conditions, and by varying both we will see their effect on the amplitude of vibrations. These data of vibrations amplitude, that we acquire from the real time driven vehicle excited by the real road conditions, will then apply on the mechanism of rack and pinion that we used along with the generator using pneumatic actuator on the testing rig. By applying the actual data on the testing rig we will calculate how much power we can regenerate from the reciprocating movement of the shock absorber when acted by the irregularities of the road surface.

## 4.1. Data Acquisition Setup:

As the vehicle passes over an uneven road surface there is a relative motion of individual wheels. The shock absorber compresses and expand until the vibrations damped over time.



Figure 12. Independent suspension system

So, we need a sensor that sense the relative motion between the axle and body of a car as the car experienced a bump or some irregularity on a road surface. We need to find the vibration amplitude or the displacement of the vibrations so the sensor must be of the type that is used for sensing the displacement. There are many sensors of different interface that are used to find the distance or displacement having different properties. Since we have certain requirement of precision, vibration frequency and range of displacement that must be fulfilled so we select the sensor accordingly. We also need some device that we can interface with the sensor to store the data. For this purpose, we will use Arduino that will be connected with the sensor and a laptop to store the displacement data into the laptop in excel file. We have performed this experiment on the motorcycle as we didn't have the equipment in the lab to apply the force equivalent to the weight of the vehicle. Motorcycle, on the other hand, are not too heavy and by using pneumatic actuator we will easily be able to apply the force equivalent to the motorcycle. First of all, we need to find out the sensor that fulfilled all our requirements of precision, frequency and range to be used in data acquisition.

#### 4.2. Accelerometer Sensor (ADXL345):

It is a sensor that measures the acceleration or vibrations of any body, object, or structure while in rest or motion. The force caused by vibration or a change in motion (acceleration) causes the mass to "squeeze" the piezoelectric material which produces an electrical charge that is proportional to the force exerted upon it. Since the charge is proportional to the force, and the mass is a constant, then the charge is also proportional to the acceleration. There are two types of acceleration forces, static and dynamic forces. Static forces are those which are being applied to some object constantly like a gravitational force. Dynamic forces are those forces that are applied to the moving object at changing rates like vibrations. It measures the static acceleration of gravity in tilt-sensing applications, as well as dynamic acceleration resulting from motion or shock. It measures the acceleration in all 3-axis x, y, and z. Accelerometer sensors have different types but

the one we used was ADXL345. It fulfilled our requirement of precision, frequency, and range but the problem was that it gives the vibration data in units of acceleration. The data we want to acquire from the suspension system is the vibration amplitude and it should be in units of displacement. By using an accelerometer, we will have the data in the acceleration terms and to convert it again into displacement is a time-consuming process. Moreover, the other issue with the accelerometer sensor is an error in the data



Figure 13. Accelerometer Sensor

while a vehicle is moving down or up the slope. The accelerometer sensor counts the slope in the vibration amplitude as it is not a coordinate acceleration. Because of these two problems with the accelerometer sensor, we cannot use it for our data acquisition as it would make the data incorrect.



Figure 14. Arduino Connection with Accelerometer

## 4.3. Capacitor Sensor (E2K-C):

It is a type of sensor that is used to detect solid or liquid targets without having physical contact with them. To detect these targets, capacitive sensors emit an electrical field from the sensing end of the sensor. Any target that can disrupt this electrical field can be detected by a capacitive sensor. This type of sensor is used for very precise data measurement with a frequency of 10Hz. It is useful for small range detection purposes. The sensing distance of the E2K-C, however, will vary with the electrical characteristics of the object, such as the conductance and inductance of the object and the maximum sensing distance of the E2K-C will be obtained if the object is made of grounded metal.

The sensing range of this type of sensor is 3mm to 20mm which is less than our requirement, so this type of sensor is not best for data acquisition in our case.



Figure 15. Capacitor Sensor

## 4.4. IR Distance Sensor GP2Y0A02YK0F:

It is an IR sensor that is used for accurate distance measurements. It worked by sending the infrared which bounces off the object. The analogue voltage that is returned determines how close the nearest object is. The closer it is, the higher the voltage is returned. The variety of the reflectivity of the object, the environmental temperature, and the operating duration are not influenced easily to the distance detection because of adopting the triangulation method. It is available in a number of different distance measuring ranges as per the requirement of short-range detection applications or long-range distance measuring applications. As per our requirement, the distance measuring range and required frequency as well, but the precision requirement is not fulfilled. This type of sensor gives the reading in units of centimetres while our precision requirement is in millimetres. As the vibrations experienced by the vehicle running on the road are not so large that we measured it in centimetres, so this type of sensor also did not best for our scenario. Another disadvantage of using it is when the detector is exposed to the direct light from the sun, tungsten lamp and so on, there are cases that it cannot measure the distance exactly.



Figure 16. IR Distance Sensor



Figure 17. Connection of Arduino with IR distance Sensor

## 4.5. VL53L0X Sensor:

It is a distance sensor that uses the time-of-flight principle to measure the distance of the objects. It is a laser-ranging sensor. It releases the laser beam that sticks to the object and bounces back. The time taken by the laser to hit the surface of the object and reflect back to the sensor is known as the time of flight. It can even measure the distance range of the object that's surface is reflective. Unlike IR distance sensors that try to measure the amount of light bounced, the VL53L0x is much more precise and doesn't have linearity problems or 'double imaging' where you can't tell if an object is very far or very close. It can measure the target distance of up to 2 meters. As it uses a very narrow laser light source, so it is good for measuring the distance of the surfaces that are directly in front of the sensor. Depending on ambient lighting and distance, we'll get 3 to 12% ranging accuracy - better lighting and shiny surfaces will give us the best results. This sensor is best suitable for our purpose as it fulfills all our requirements of precision, which is in millimeters here, distance measuring range, and frequency range. To communicate with the microcontroller, the I2C communication protocol is provided onboard.





Figure 18. VL53L0X Sensor and it's connection with Arduino

## 4.6. Experimental Setup for Data Acquisition:

To acquire the vibrations data that the vehicle will experience while moving on the road, we add a setup on the motorcycle. The setup will sense the amplitude of the vibrations that will act on the suspension of the vehicle and by using an interface it will store the data of vibration amplitude in the laptop. This setup will consist of two metal plates, one plate will be attached to the lower end of the shock absorber which is the axle, and the second plate will be connected to the upper end of the shock absorber which is the body of the motorcycle. The lower plate that is attached to the axle will be fixed and the one attached to the body will move up and down as the shock absorber will compress and expand. VL53L0X sensor will be fixed on the lower plate. The sensor will be connected with the Arduino through connecting wires with the I2C communication protocol and the Arduino will be connected to the laptop. Now as the motorcycle moves on the road and passes over some irregular surface or bump, the shock absorber will compress and expand to dampen the vibrations. The plate attached to the upper end of the shock will also move up and down and the distance between the upper and lower plate will change. This change in

distance will be noticed by the sensor attached to the lower plate. The sensor will send the data to the Arduino which will eventually save on the laptop in an excel file.

To see the effect of different road profiles on the power harvested from the regenerative suspension system, we have acquired data from three different road profiles for a specific interval of time and at a constant speed.

#### 4.6.1. Data of Vibration Amplitude Taken from Highway:

To acquire the vibrations data experienced by the motorcycle shock, I drive it on Srinagar highway which is considered as the class A type of road, with all the experimental setup mounted on it to gather the vibrations amplitude data. The time interval for which the motorcycle is been driven is almost 30 minutes so that the acquired data is enough to apply it later to the testing rig. The maximum amplitude of vibration experienced by the motorcycle is 14mm. However, the average amplitude of vibrations on highway road was about 5mm.



Figure 19. Graph of Highway data taken from motorcycle shock w.r.t time

#### **4.6.2. Data of Vibration Amplitude Taken from Street Road:**

The roads within the city or streets are not that fine and smooth as compared to the highway or motorway and so the irregularities are more often and hance the vibrations amplitude is greater, and speed is also slow as compared to highway. So, the maximum amplitude of vibration detected here is 17mm. The maximum amplitude of vibration is experienced where the road condition is poor and hence it's not so often. The average amplitude if vibration on street road is observed to be almost 7mm. The graph of the data of vibrations amplitude with respect to the time is shown below which is the small part of the data taken from the 30 minutes driving.



Figure 20. Graph of Vibrations Amplitude data taken from motorcycle on street road

## 4.6.3. Data of Vibration Amplitude Taken from Rough Road:

The conditions of roads in many villages as well as major cities of Pakistan is well below average road condition and is considered as class D of road which I termed here as rough road. Such type of roads are filled with ditches, uneven gutter holes, construction dump, absence of proper constructed road, local man-made speed breakers and so on. Because of all these irregularities the vibrations experienced here by the motorcycle's shocks is maximum. The maximum amplitude of vibrations experienced here is almost up to 20mm.



Figure 21. Graph of vibrations amplitude taken from motorcycle on rough road conditions

Properties	Highway	Street	Rough Road
Driving Speed (Km/h)	50	40	30
Driving Time (min)	30	20	30
Maximum Amplitude (mm)	16	21	33
Average Amplitude (mm)	6.13	6.52	7.04

Table 1. Comparison of Vibration Amplitude Data on different road conditions

### 5. Design of Mechanism

The mechanism used here in the research for the converting linear motion of the shock absorber to the rotating motion is rack and pinion. Rack will be connected in parallel with the shock absorber so that it will experience the same to and fro vibrations as the shock absorber is experiencing while moving through irregularities on the road. The rack is then connected to the pinion gear having meshed teeth to each other so the vertical vibrations of the rack would be converted to the rotating motion. This pinion gear is then connected with the shaft of the generator so the pinion rotation will be given to the shaft of generator that will then produce power.

The data that we acquired from the road on different conditions shows that the minimum average amplitude of vibration experienced by the shock is almost 6mm. Now we have to design the rack and pinion gear so that the minimum amplitude will give the required motion to the generator to produce power rather than to generate noise. The generator that we are using have the specification of 12 volts DC and the minimum RPM requirement is 50 RPM below which it will produce noise. So, the calculation of the design for rack and pinion gear is as calculated below.

- Frequency of the data acquisition = 3 Hz
- Minimum average amplitude of vibration = 6mm
- Since there would be 3 complete cycles and 6 strokes of rack so the velocity of the pinion will be

$$v = 6 \times 6 = 36mm/s$$

And according to the equation

$$v = r\omega$$
$$36 = r \times \frac{2\pi N}{60}$$
$$r = \frac{36 \times 60}{2\pi \times 50} = 6.875mm$$

The calculations shows that the radius of the pinion should be 6.875mm or less to generate the useful power and avoid noise with the min of 6mm vibration amplitude and generator of 50 RPM.

The final specification of the Pinion used are:

- Reference Diameter= 13.35 mm (less than the minimum diameter requirement of 13.75mm)
- Number of teeth= 14
- Module = 13.35/14 = 0.95

Now the rack gear should be designed in line with the specifications of the pinion gear so that they mesh accurately. For that purpose, the module of both the gear and pinion should be same.

$$Module of Rack = \frac{\frac{Distance \ between \ 10 \ pitches}{10}}{\pi}$$

Distance between 10 piches = 
$$0.95 \times \pi \times 10 \approx 30mm$$



Figure 22. Manufactured Rack and Pinion

This rack and pinion should be then connected parallel to the shock absorber but should be attached externally to the case of shock absorber. The reason for it is that the rack and pinion may get wear and tear over time so to replace the mechanism without disturbing the shock absorber unit it should be attached externally. The gear ratio of the rack and pinion should be small so that even for small linear motion, pinion gets more rotation to generate more power.

## 6. Data Application and Testing

The main purpose of the research was to determine how much voltage and power is generated by using the mechanism purposed above in this thesis research for power harvesting from suspension system. The research previously done on this topic to calculate power was either by assuming constant vibration amplitude and applying it to the respective phenomena or by analyzing the phenomena in software to calculate its power. Both of these ways are not precise to find the power harvested by the suspension system using any mechanism as the amplitude of the vibrations experienced by the vehicle is not constant but is varying accordingly with the roughness and uneven conditions of the road. Analysis of the mechanism is one way to find the power generated but in theoretical way without considering the actual life conditions and friction that will affect to reduce the power generation in real life.

The purpose of the data acquisition was to find out exactly the varying vibrations amplitude experienced by vehicle on different road conditions. After acquiring the data, the next step is how to apply the acquired data to the testing rig containing the rack and pinion mechanism to find out the exact voltage and power harvested from the suspension system. Testing rig consists of shock absorber and our purposed mechanism of rack and pinion in parallel to each other. The shaft of

DC generator is connected with the pinion which would in turn generate the voltage and power. The testing rig also consists of Pneumatic Cylinder to provide the vibration amplitude acquired from the real-life road data.



Figure 23. Testing Rig

## 6.1. Data Application:

To apply the data that we acquired from the road, we need some kind of automation device or mechanism as it's not possible to apply the varying amplitude from hands manually. To apply the acquired data automatically to the pneumatic cylinder, we will need following devices:

- Arduino Mega
- Arduino Uno
- SD Card Module
- MOSFET Module
- Connecting Wires (Male-to-Male & Male-to-Female)
- Power Supply
- Compressor

## 6.1.1. Arduino Mega:

Arduino Mega is used to apply the data acquired previously to the pneumatic cylinder using other devices connected with it as well. The need for Arduino Mega instead of Arduino Uno is because of the large data that we are required to read off the SD card. As Arduino Uno is unable to read data more than 50 or it will make the device and process slow and our data of vibrations amplitude that we acquired from the road is in thousands, so we need a large device fit for such purpose. Hence Arduino Mega is used as it have the ability to read a large number of data efficiently without consuming much time.



Figure 24. Arduino Mega

## 6.1.2. SD Card Module:

The Arduino cannot read data directly from the PC or laptop. So, to enable the Arduino to read the acquired data, we will need SD card and SD card module. First, we will transfer our data of vibrations amplitude that we acquired from different road conditions to the SD card. Now insert this SD card into the SD card module and connect it with the Arduino. We will see that the Arduino will start reading the data from the SD card and we can change the number of data we want the Arduino to read as per the requirement.



Figure 25. SD card Module & it's connection with Arduino

#### 6.1.3. MOSFET Module:

Pneumatic cylinder needs a certain amount of voltage to operate depending upon the type of pneumatic we are using and for which operation it is being used. MOSFET is a type of field effective transistor, and it acts as an electrical switch or amplifier to control the amount of voltage and current that can be used and required for the operation. The purpose of MOSFET in this experimental setup is to control the amplitude and stoke length of the arm of the pneumatic cylinder.



Figure 26. MOSFET Module

## 6.1.4. Power Supply & Compressor:

Pneumatic Cylinder needs compressed air energy to convert it into linear reciprocating motion. Pneumatic cylinder valve is used to control the movement of the piston either by automation or by the use of the single button. The compressor is used to provide the air to the pneumatic cylinder, which then convert that compressed air energy to the reciprocating linear motion of piston. Through one valve air is supplied by the compressor and the other two valves are used to provide air to the pneumatic cylinder. To push the piston forward air is supplied through the valve and then when that air moves out through the other valve, the piston moves backward.

To automate the pneumatic cylinder using Arduino, we need to provide the voltage required to operate the pneumatic which in our case is 24 volts. So, we need a power supply that can provide minimum 24 volts to the pneumatic cylinder. Here we used the 30 volts power supply that in connection with the MOSFET will provide 24 volts to the pneumatic cylinder to operate it accordingly.



Figure 27. Power Supply of 30V



Figure 28. Air Compressor

## 6.2. Experimental Setup:

Different devices as mentioned above in this research are connected via connecting wires in a way to apply the concerned data to the testing rig to acquire respective results. The devices are connected in a way as mentioned in the picture here.



Figure 29. Wiring Diagram of Experimental Setup with Arduino

The Arduino is connected with the SD card module and MOSFET module both at the same time to read the data through SD card module and control the voltage being applied to the pneumatic cylinder with MOSFET module. The MOSFET module is connected with both the power supply and pneumatic cylinder. The power supply of 30 volt provide voltage to MOSFET which then gives the voltage to the pneumatic cylinder as per requirement to the operation conditions. The compressor provides the compressed air to the pneumatic cylinder with the required pressure necessary to operate it, which in our setup is 8 bar.

The experimental setup works in such a way that the compressor gives the compressed air to the pneumatic cylinder with the pressure of 8 bar. The Arduino reads the data through the SD card and by using the Arduino code in the Arduino software gives the required amount of data to the pneumatic cylinder. The voltage required to drive the pneumatic cylinder is provided by the power supply. So, by using this experimental setup we applied the data that we acquired from different road conditions in real life while driving the motorcycle to the testing rig.

#### 6.3. Testing of Power Harvesting Mechanism for Power Output:

The data of the vibrations amplitude that was acquired from the road is then applied to the testing rig through the process describe above. The voltage and current generated by the generator when its shaft experienced the rotation given by the pinion is calculated from the digital multimeter first to get the roughly idea of how much voltage is being generated. The average value of the voltage being generated by the generator is around 7 volts. Since, the purpose is to charge the battery of vehicle so the voltage should be greater than 12 volts. To overcome this problem, I used the boost convertor the purpose of which is to boost the voltage according to the one's requirement which in our case is greater than 12

volts. Now to store the voltage values that are being generated instantaneously and are not constant because of the varying amplitude of the vibrations, we used Arduino. The Arduino is able to store the maximum value of up to 5 volts so the resistances of 47k and 10k ohm are used along with Arduino in the circuit as shown below.



Figure 30. Voltage Divider Circuit

## 6.4. Voltage Generated from Vibrations on Different Road Conditions:

Just as the vibrations amplitude taken from the different road conditions, we also calculate the voltage generated from vibrations under different road conditions as well. As we have seen that the maximum amplitude of vibrations being experienced when driven on the rough road, so the voltage generated is also greatest when rough road data is being applied. Since the vibration amplitude sometime is very small and close to zero so in that case the generator did not have the specific rotation to generate power and hence in these cases the voltage or power generated will be zero and we will also see such values in the graph of the voltage versus time.

If we compare the values of voltage that is generated by applying the data acquired from the road, we will see that the maximum voltage is generated in case of rough road conditions as the irregularities and bumps in this case is large, giving more rotations to the pinion and so the shaft of the generator. Since the voltage is not constant in each case and is varying at all times so it is best to use the root mean square (RMS) value of the voltage for the accurate calculations.

Properties	Highway	Street	Rough Road
Maximum	23.427	24.339	25.614
Voltage(volts)			
RMS Voltage	16.125	16.356	18.042
(volts)			
Mean Current	0.1	0.1	0.12
(Amps)			

Table 2. Comparison of voltage generated by vibrations amplitude of different road conditions



Figure 31. Voltage vs Time Graph from Highway Data



Figure 32. Voltage vs Time Graph from street road Data



Figure 33. Voltage vs Time Graph from Rough Road Data

## 6.5. Power Calculation:

The calculation of power is simply done by using the formula

$$P = VI$$

Since, the frequency of data acquisition and data application is 3 Hz means there are three cycles in one second. But in one cycle there occur two strokes forward and backward and power is generated in both these strokes. So, to find the power in one second simply calculate the instantaneous power by 6. The voltage used in the calculation in power is RMS voltage as the voltage is varying continuously and the maximum power is for an instant so it's best to use the RMS voltage for accurate power calculation. The maximum power will be generated when we used the rough road data of vibrations amplitude.

	Highway	Street	Rough Road
Power Generated	9.675	9.814	12.99
(Watt)			

Table 3. Power Harvested by vibrations on different road conditions

#### 7. Results & Discussions

In this research, we investigate the power potential of the suspension system that could be generated from the road irregularities. Rotary energy harvesting mechanism is designed to convert the to and fro motion of the suspension into rotary motion. Rack and pinion are used for this purpose and attached in parallel to the shock absorber externally so that the rack experienced the same linear vibrational motion and by meshing with pinion gear convert that vibration motion into rotary motion. Rack and pinion mechanism is attached externally so in case of wear and tear it could be replaced easily.

The testing that we have done on the suspension of the motorcycle by adding the power harvesting mechanism, using the real-life data that we acquired from different road conditions, shows that the power of 9.5 Watts is harvestable from single shock absorber of the motorcycle. These results proves that the vehicle suspension energy generation is very efficient to convert the vibration energy from the shock that is otherwise going as a waste to the useful energy. Currently, the batteries of the automobiles are charged by using the alternator and the alternator rotates by attaching it from the IC engine crankshaft. So, fuel is consumed to rotate the alternator and alternator is than used to charge the battery. This fuel consumption to charge the battery using alternator is found to be around 4% of the total fuel consumption.

As our results show that the power harvestable from the single shock absorber of the motorcycle is around 9.5 watts, this means that by installing the mechanism in automobiles vehicle suspension it could give us 20 watts from single shock absorber easily given the weight of the automobile is about 10 times that of the motorcycle and deflection is going to be larger than the motorcycle as well. So, by installing the mechanism on all four shock absorbers of the vehicle, it will be more than enough to charge the batter alone without taking the energy from the alternator and saving the 4% fuel consumption of the automobile.

In engine based automotives, the battery is used only to start the engine and rest of the electronic accessories are run directly by taking the energy from the alternator once the engine is on. So, we can also use the power that is being harvested to run the electronic accessories that are taking the most energy like air conditioner. The purpose mechanism can also be used in those vehicles which requires high demand of electricity like milk trucks, fire brigade trucks and other heavy compressed vehicles like that.

41

The regenerative system is more useful when used with the suspension system of heavy vehicles like trucks that are used to transport goods, passenger buses or military vehicles and trucks that are mostly used to drive in off-road conditions thereby experience large bumps and irregularities on road and generate more power. In upcoming electric vehicles, this system can increase the life cycle of the primary battery by providing regenerated electric power to replenish the battery while absorbing the terrain borne shocks.

The mean power that could be harvested from the suspension system of an automobile depends on the road roughness, vehicle speed and tire stiffness.

- With the increase in road roughness the vibrations are severe that rotate the pinion fast and so the shaft of the generator producing more power.
- The increase in velocity increases the power generation but on rough road with the increase in velocity the wheels may not have enough contact force with the ground. This could result is reduced road handling as the vehicle may lose control during steering and braking.
- The tire stiffness also increases the power generation. The harvestable power increase linearly with the increase in tire stiffness but it reduces the ride comfort and road handling.

The effect of the power harvesting mechanism on the stiffness of the shock absorber is that by adding the mechanism, the stiffness of the shock absorber increases by a very small amount. By testing the shock absorber of the motorcycle to see the effect of mechanism on the stiffness of the shock the results are as follow:

• Without Mechanism

Stiffness = k = 29.99940 N/mm

• With Mechanism

$$Stiffness = k = 30.4484 N/mm$$

These calculations show that by adding the mechanism along with the shock absorber to generate the power, the stiffness of shock absorber increases by a very small amount of 0.5 N/mm. So, the power harvesting mechanism will not affect the comfort and road handling of the vehicle because of the increase in the stiffness of shock absorber.

Another question that comes to mind is how to connect the power generating mechanism with the battery as it is already taking power from alternator and connected with it. There could be two possible solutions of this problem.

- Firstly, we can either connect the battery alone with the power harvesting mechanism if it's generating enough power, which in case of automobile when using all of the four shock absorbers it will. In this way alternator will not be used to charge the battery and provide power to other electronic devices only.
- 2. The second solution will be to charge the battery from both alternator and power harvesting mechanism as well. This arises the question of whether we can charge a single battery from two sources or not. When we charge the battery using two chargers, there is a chance of flow of current from battery to the charging source or from one charger to the other. This is because both are providing current and voltage differently with one maybe providing slightly less than the other and as a result it will draw a large current from the other one. So, the answer to the question is it might be a good idea to supply the charging current from these many sources through a diode so as to not have current flow back into the source.

## 7.1. Future Recommendations:

- This research work is limited to the power that can be harvested from the single shock absorber of the motorcycle because there wasn't any motor that can apply the force equal to the weight of the automobile. The future research should focus on the design of lab experimental setup to test the mechanism on automobiles by using a suitable machine that could provide the force equal to the weight of the automobile.
- The research provides a meaningful result for the power that could be generated from single shock of the motorcycle. The future research could focus on testing the mechanism on automobile to find out the harvestable power from all of the shock absorbers of the automobile.
- The results obtained from the simulation and lab testing gives us the satisfied range of power output so the next step would be to implement the setup in automobile. The size of

the mechanism and setup to integrate it with the shock absorber in automobile is the area of future research.

- The future research could also focus on the implementation of the mechanism on different type of vehicles like passenger bus, truck, minivan, SUVs and military vehicles to find out the power range that could be harvested from these vehicles and which could give us the maximum power and most suitable to use the mechanism with it.
- The area of research is still in early stages, and one have to work in different areas of power harvesting mechanism, implementation of mechanism, to avoid wear and tear by using lubrication and practical aspect of it in electric vehicles as EVs are the future of the automobile industry.

## 8. APPENDIX A

## DATA ACQUISITION CODE

```
#include "Adafruit_VL53L0X.h"
```

const byte zeroFactor = 20; // Distance for zero factor

```
Adafruit_VL53L0X lox = Adafruit_VL53L0X();
```

bool debugInfo = false;

void setup() {

```
Serial.begin(9600);
```

// wait until serial port opens for native USB devices

while (! Serial) {

delay(1);

## }

```
if (!lox.begin()) {
```

```
Serial.println(F("Failed to boot VL53L0X"));
```

while (1);

```
}
```

```
void loop() {
```

VL53L0X\_RangingMeasurementData\_t measure;

lox.rangingTest(&measure, false); // pass in 'true' to get debug data printout!

if (measure.RangeStatus != 4) { // phase failures have incorrect data

if (debugInfo) {

```
Serial.print("Distance (mm): ");
```

}

int dist = measure.RangeMilliMeter - zeroFactor; // Substract zero factor from initial readings
Serial.println(dist);

} else {

```
// if (debugInfo)
```

Serial.println(" out of range ");

}

```
delayMicroseconds(5);
```

}

## 9. APPENDIX B

## **ARDUINO CODE TO READ & STORE VOLTAGE**

int R1 = 47000; // Resistance 1 value

int R2 = 10000; // Resistance 2 value

void setup() {

// put your setup code here, to run once:

pinMode(A0, INPUT); // Set analog pin as input

Serial.begin(9600);

## }

void loop() {

// read the input on analog pin 0:

int sensorValue = analogRead(A0);

// Convert the analog reading (which goes from 0 - 1023) to a voltage (0 - 5V):

float voltage = sensorValue \* (5.0 / 1023.0);

// print out the value you read:

Serial.println(voltage);

## }

#### **10.REFERENCES**

- M. A. A. Abdelkareem *et al.*, "Vibration energy harvesting in automotive suspension system: A detailed review," *Applied Energy*, vol. 229. Elsevier Ltd, pp. 672–699, Nov. 01, 2018. doi: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2018.08.030.
- [2] Z. Zhao, T. Wang, B. Zhang, and J. Shi, "Energy Harvesting from Vehicle Suspension System by Piezoelectric Harvester," *Math Probl Eng*, vol. 2019, 2019, doi: 10.1155/2019/1086983.
- [3] A. Abadir, "School of Mechanical, Chemical and Materials Engineering MSc project Construction of a Mechanism for Harvesting Energy from Suspension System," 2016.
- Y. Liu, L. Xu, and L. Zuo, "Design, Modeling, Lab, and Field Tests of a Mechanical-Motion-Rectifier-Based Energy Harvester Using a Ball-Screw Mechanism," *IEEE/ASME Transactions on Mechatronics*, vol. 22, no. 5, pp. 1933–1943, Oct. 2017, doi: 10.1109/TMECH.2017.2700485.
- [5] Bhalerao AS, Karale AB, Mutke AN, Pawar SK, and Darekar AA, "ENERGY REGENERATIVE SUSPENSION SYSTEM," 2018. [Online]. Available: http://eneken.ieej.or.jp
- [6] D. B. Jagdale, Y. K. Chavan, A. R. Gaikwad, V. B. Gaikwad, and P. S. Baravkar, "Suspension based power generation for EV Range improvement," *International Research Journal of Engineering and Technology*, 2021, [Online]. Available: www.irjet.net
- [7] X. D. Xie and Q. Wang, "Energy harvesting from a vehicle suspension system," *Energy*, vol. 86, pp. 382–395, Jun. 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2015.04.009.
- [8] G. P. Dhalwar and T. A. Jadhav, "Power Generation through Rack & Pinion in Suspension System for an Automobile." [Online]. Available: www.ijariie.com
- [9] S. A. Wani, "Kinetic Energy Recovery System for Vehicle Suspension." [Online]. Available: www.ijert.org
- [10] B. C. J. Assistant, "Design and Experimental Analysis of Rack and Pinion Dynamo Prototype," *International Journal of Mechanical Engineering and Technology*, vol. 8, no.

3, pp. 291–295, 2017, [Online]. Available: http://iaeme.com/Home/journal/IJMET291editor@iaeme.comhttp://iaeme.com/Home/issu e/IJMET?Volume=8&Issue=3http://iaeme.com

- [11] "shaiju2008".
- [12] L. Dahil, "EFFECT ON THE VIBRATION OF THE SUSPENSION SYSTEM Original Scientific Paper-Izvorni znanstveni rad," 2017.
- [13] M. Borowiec, A. K. Sen, G. Litak, J. Hunicz, G. Koszałka, and A. Niewczas, "Vibrations of a vehicle excited by real road profiles," *Forschung im Ingenieurwesen/Engineering Research*, vol. 74, no. 2, pp. 99–109, Jun. 2010, doi: 10.1007/s10010-010-0119-y.
- [14] J. Eriksson, "Kandidatexamensarbete med inriktning Fordonsteknik Review of Methods for Energy Harvesting from a Vehicle Suspension System," 2016.
- [15] N. S. Kothawade, N. S. Kothawade, A. D. Halwar, A. I. Chaudhari, and B. R. Mahajan, "Design of Shock Absorber Test Rig for Measurement and Analysis of Transmissibility Government college of engineering jalgaon Design of Shock Absorber Test Rig for Measurement and Analysis of Transmissibility." [Online]. Available: www.ijert.org
- [16] J. Caban, "Technologies of using energy harvesting systems in motor vehicles Energy from suspension system," in *Engineering for Rural Development*, 2021, vol. 20, pp. 1470–1477. doi: 10.22616/ERDev.2021.20.TF315.
- [17] L. Zuo and P. S. Zhang, "Energy harvesting, ride comfort, and road handling of regenerative vehicle suspensions," *Journal of Vibration and Acoustics, Transactions of the ASME*, vol. 135, no. 1, 2013, doi: 10.1115/1.4007562.
- [18] Y. Yang, Y. Pian, and Q. Liu, "Design of energy harvester using rotating motion rectifier and its application on bicycle," *Energy*, vol. 179, pp. 222–231, Jul. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2019.05.036.
- [19] "Design and Testing of Regenerative Suspension System," *International Journal of Science and Research (IJSR)*, vol. 5, no. 6, pp. 840–845, Jun. 2016, doi: 10.21275/v5i6.nov164197.

- [20] H. S. Rewatkar, V. R. Gedekar, and K. L. Parate, "Power Generation by Using Suspension System," *International Research Journal of Engineering and Technology*, 2017, [Online]. Available: www.irjet.net
- [21] M. Sekar, "DESIGN OF POWER GENERATION SYSTEM USING VEHICLE SUSPENSION," *International Journal of Engineering Research and General Science*, vol. 5, no. 2, [Online]. Available: www.ijergs.org
- [22] B. Bhatia and A. Joshi, "Regenerative electromagnetic shock absorbers for independent suspension system," in *AIP Conference Proceedings*, Sep. 2019, vol. 2148. doi: 10.1063/1.5123975.
- [23] A. C. Mitra and N. Banerjee, "A LabVIEW-based data acquisition system in a quarter car test rig to optimize vehicle suspension system," *Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing*, vol. 343, pp. 593–601, 2015, doi: 10.1007/978-81-322-2268-2\_60.
- [24] S. Logeshwaran, C. Tiwari, and R. Kumar Rai, "Comprehensive Study of Various Methods of Power Generation through Suspension System," 2019. [Online]. Available: www.ijisrt.com795
- [25] R. Bhoite, S. Jadhav, A. Jape, V. Phadatare, and A. Jadhav, "Energy Generation by Suspension System," 2015. [Online]. Available: www.ijiset.com
- [26] M. S. M. Sani, M. M. Rahman, M. M. Noor, K. Kadirgama, and M. R. M. Rejab, "Study on Dynamic Characteristics of Automotive Shock Absorber System," 2008.
- [27] Sri Shakthi Institute of Engineering and Technology, Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers. Madras Section, India Electronics & Semiconductor Association, and Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, 2017 International Conference on Computer Communication and Informatics: January 05-07, 2017, Coimbatore, India.

Pdf				
ORIGINA	ALITY REPORT			
SIMILA	6% 12% INTERNET SOURCES	10% PUBLICATIONS	<b>5%</b> STUDENT PAPERS	
PRIMAR	Y SOURCES			
1	<b>coek.info</b> Internet Source			3%
2	Bhavya Bhatia, Anurag electromagnetic shock independent suspensio Publishing, 2019 Publication	Joshi. "Regenei absorbers for n system", AIP	ative	2%
3	Yilun Liu, Lin Xu, Lei Zuc Lab, and Field Tests of a Rectifier-Based Energy Screw Mechanism", IEE on Mechatronics, 2017 Publication	o. "Design, Moo a Mechanical-M Harvester Usin E/ASME Transa	leling, 1otion- g a Ball- ictions	2%
4	autodocbox.com		2	2%
5	Mohamed A.A. Abdelka Mohamed Kamal Ahme Jia Mi, Sijing Guo, Yilun energy harvesting in au system: A detailed revie	reem, Lin Xu, ed Ali, Ahmed E Liu, Lei Zuo. "V itomotive susp ew", Applied En	lagouz, ibration ension ergy,	%

6	etd.astu.edu.et Internet Source	1%
7	205.186.155.167 Internet Source	1 %
8	www.irjet.net Internet Source	1%
9	www.dovalautomotive.com	1%
10	Submitted to National School of Business Management NSBM, Sri Lanka Student Paper	<1 %
11	<b>1library.net</b> Internet Source	<1 %
12	Submitted to International Islamic University Malaysia Student Paper	<1 %
13	j8m.pw Internet Source	<1 %
14	scienceprojectchennai.com	<1%
15	Submitted to Caledonian College of Engineering Student Paper	<1%

16	Yiqing Yang, Yawei Pian, Qiang Liu. "Design of energy harvester using rotating motion rectifier and its application on bicycle", Energy, 2019 Publication	<1%
17	iosrjournals.org Internet Source	<1%
18	lesron.com.pl Internet Source	<1%
19	makerselectronics.com Internet Source	<1%
20	docplayer.net Internet Source	<1%
21	Submitted to VNR Vignana Jyothi Institute of Engineering and Technology Student Paper	<1%
22	Submitted to University of St La Salle Student Paper	<1%
23	ebin.pub Internet Source	<1%
24	vtechworks.lib.vt.edu Internet Source	<1%
25	www.diva-portal.org	<1%

Hongye Pan, Lingfei Qi, Zutao Zhang, Jinyue Yan. "Kinetic energy harvesting technologies for applications in land transportation: A comprehensive review", Applied Energy, 2021 Publication



www.ijsr.net

<1%

Zutao Zhang, Xingtian Zhang, Weiwu Chen, Yagubov Rasim, Waleed Salman, Hongye Pan, Yanping Yuan, Chunbai Wang. "A highefficiency energy regenerative shock absorber using supercapacitors for renewable energy applications in range extended electric vehicle", Applied Energy, 2016 Publication

Exclude quotes	On	Exclude matches	Off
Exclude bibliography	On		